Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: August 23, 2018 REVISED: May 27, 2019 ACCEPTED: July 7, 2019 PUBLISHED: July 17, 2019

Casimir effect, Weyl anomaly and displacement operator in boundary conformal field theory

Rong-Xin Miao

School of Physics and Astronomy, Sun Yat-Sen University, 2 Daxue Road, Zhuhai 519082, China

E-mail: miaorx@mail.sysu.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: In this paper, we investigate Casimir effect, Weyl anomaly and displacement operator for boundary conformal field theory in general dimensions. We find universal relations between them. In particular, they are all determined by the central charge of boundary conformal field theory. We verify these relations by studying free BCFTs and holographic BCFTs. As a byproduct, we obtain the holographic two point function of stress tensor when the bulk boundary is perpendicular to the AdS boundary.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Conformal Field Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1808.05783



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Review of displacement operator	3
3	Casimir effect from Weyl anomaly	5
4	Casimir effect from displacement operator	6
5	Tests of universal relations	8
	5.1 Story of free BCFT	8
	5.2 Holographic BCFT	10
	5.2.1 Holographic Weyl anomaly	11
	5.2.2 Holographic displacement operator	13
6	Conclusions and discussions	16
\mathbf{A}	Useful formulas	16

1 Introduction

The boundary brings many novel characteristics to quantum field theories. The most famous one is the Casimir effect [1–3], which originates from the change of zero point energy of quantized fields due to boundaries. In this paper we focus on BCFT, the conformal field theory defined on a manifold M with a boundary ∂M and suitable boundary conditions (BC) [4, 5]. We use x^i and y^a to denote the coordinates of M and ∂M , respectively. We have $x^i = (x, y^a)$ and the boundary is labeled by x = 0. It is remarkable that the renormalized expectation value of stress tensor of BCFT is divergent near the boundary [6],

$$< T_{ij} >= \alpha \frac{\bar{k}_{ij}}{x^{d-1}} + O\left(\frac{1}{x^{d-2}}\right), \quad x \sim 0,$$
 (1.1)

where x is the distance to the boundary, \bar{k}_{ij} is the traceless part of extrinsic curvature, d is the dimension of spacetime and α is a constant determined by the type of BCFT under consideration. One may worry about the divergence of stress tensor at x = 0. In fact, nothing goes wrong, since there are boundary contributions to the stress tensor, which exactly cancel the apparent bulk "divergence" and make finite the total energy [7, 8]. Roughly speaking, we call the renormalized stress tensor (1) as 'Casimir effect' in this paper. In addition to Casimir energy, the boundary also plays an important role in the quantum anomaly [9–21]. Let us focus on Weyl anomaly, which measures the breaking of scaling symmetry of CFT due to quantum effects,

$$\mathcal{A} = \partial_{\sigma} I_{\text{eff}}[e^{2\sigma}g_{ij}]|_{\sigma=0} = \int_{M} dx^{d}\sqrt{g} < T_{i}^{i} > + \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1}\sqrt{h} < t_{a}^{a} >, \tag{1.2}$$

where I_{eff} is the effective action of CFT, g_{ij} are the bulk metrics, h_{ab} are the induced metrics on the boundary, T_{ij} and t_{ab} are bulk and boundary renormalized stress tensors, respectively. Note that there are non-trivial boundary contributions to Weyl anomaly for BCFT [9, 10]. Take 3d BCFT as an example, we have [20, 21]

$$\mathcal{A}_{3d} = \int_{\partial M} dy^2 \sqrt{h} \left(\beta_0 \mathcal{R} - \beta \operatorname{tr}(\bar{k}^2) \right), \qquad (1.3)$$

where β_0 , β are boundary central charges and \mathcal{R} is Ricci scalar on the boundary. As for $d \geq 4$, in general, (1.2) takes the form

$$\mathcal{A} = \text{Bulk Anomaly} + \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \left(\beta \bar{k}^{ij} q_{ij}^{(d-2)} + \dots \right), \qquad (1.4)$$

where β is the boundary central charge, ... denote terms without traceless parts of $q_{ij}^{(d-2)}$, $q_{ij}^{(n)}$ is defined by the near-boundary metric in the Gauss normal coordinate

$$ds^{2} = dx^{2} + \left(h_{ab} - 2xk_{ab} + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} x^{n}q_{ab}^{(n)}\right)dy^{a}dy^{b},$$
(1.5)

where $k_{ab} = \frac{\partial x^i}{\partial y^a} \frac{\partial x^j}{\partial y^b} k_{ij}$ and similar for $q_{ab}^{(n)}$. The covariant form of Weyl anomaly of 4d BCFT can be found in [9, 10]. In particular, we have $\bar{k}^{ij}C_{ikjl}h^{kl} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{k}^{ij}q_{ij}^{(2)} +$ terms without $\bar{q}_{ij}^{(2)}$ for d = 4 [14], where C_{ijkl} are Weyl tensors. Since it is a non-trivial problem to find out the exact expressions of boundary Weyl anomaly in general dimensions, for simplicity we focus on the non-covariant form (1.4) in this paper.

Because the boundary breaks the translation invariance along the direction perpendicular to the boundary, the energy moment tensor of BCFT is no longer conserved generally. Instead, we have [22]

$$\nabla_i T^{ij} = -\delta(x) D^j(y^a), \tag{1.6}$$

where $D^{j}(y^{a})$ is the displacement operator with scaling dimension $\Delta = d$. Note that only the orthogonal component of displacement operator is non-zero, i.e., $D^{i}n_{i} = -D^{x} \neq 0$, where n_{i} is the outward-pointing normal vector of the boundary. The two point function of displacement operator is given by

$$< D^{x}(y)D^{x}(0) > = \frac{C_{D}}{|y|^{2d}},$$
(1.7)

with C_D the Zamolodchikov norm, which is a piece of BCFT data [22].

The main goal of this paper is to show that the Casimir effect, Weyl anomaly and displacement operator of BCFT are closely related to each other. As we will prove in the text, there are universal relations

$$\alpha = 2\beta \tag{1.8}$$

$$\alpha = -\frac{d\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(d-1)\Gamma[d+2]}C_D,$$
(1.9)

between the charges of Casimir effect (1.1), Weyl anomaly (1.4) and displacement operator (1.7). We also give some holographic and free-field tests of the above universal relations.

It should be stressed that the above universal relations (1.8), (1.9) are generalizations of the works [8, 11, 12] to higher dimensions. [8] find universal relations between Casimir coefficient α and boundary central charge β for 3d and 4d BCFTs. And [11, 12] find remarkable relations between boundary central charge β and the Zamolodchikov norm C_D of displacement operator in three and four dimensions. As we will show in the paper, the universal relations (1.8), (1.9) agree with the results of [8, 11, 12]. Besides, it should be also mentioned that our results are generalization of the works of [23–28] for codimension 2 defect (entangling surface) to codimension 1 defect (boundary).

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we briefly review the displacement operator of BCFT. In section 3, we study the universal relation between Casimir energy and Weyl anomaly. In section 4, we derive the shape dependence of Casimir effect from displacement operator. In section 5, we verify our main results by studying free BCFTs and holographic BCFTs. Finally, we conclude with discussions in section 6.

2 Review of displacement operator

In this section we briefly review the displacement operator for BCFT. Consider the variation of the effective action of BCFT, in general, we have [5, 22]

$$\delta I_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} dx^{d} \sqrt{g} T_{\text{bulk}}^{ij} \delta g_{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \left(T_{\text{bdy}}^{ij} \delta h_{ij} + J^{(n)ij} \delta q_{ij}^{(n)} + 2D_i \delta x^i \right)$$
(2.1)

where T_{bulk}^{ij} and T_{bdy}^{ij} are bulk and boundary stress tensor respectively, $J^{(n)ij}$ is the boundary current conjugate to $q_{ij}^{(n)} = \partial_x^n g_{ij} / \Gamma[n+1]$ (1.5) and D_i is the displacement operator. For simplicity, we turn off the variation of $q_{ij}^{(n)}$ below. Please see [5, 22] for the discussions of such terms. Consider the diffeomorphism on the boundary,

$$\delta_{\zeta} y^a = -\zeta^a, \quad \delta_{\zeta} x^i = \zeta^a \partial_a x^i, \quad \delta_{\zeta} g_{ij} = 0$$
(2.2)

we have

$$\delta_{\zeta} I_{\text{eff}} = \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \zeta^a \partial_a x^i D_i = 0, \qquad (2.3)$$

which yields

$$\zeta^a \partial_a x^i D_i = 0. \tag{2.4}$$

This means the components of D^i parallel to the boundary must vanish. This is the expected result, since the translation invariance along the direction parallel to the boundary is preserved. As a result, we must have $\nabla^i T_{ij} \partial_a x^j = 0$, which yields (2.4) from (1.6).

Now consider an infinite-small transformation of bulk coordinates

$$\delta_{\xi} y^a = 0, \quad \delta_{\xi} x^i = -\xi^i, \quad \delta_{\xi} g_{ij} = 2\nabla_{(i}\xi_{j)}, \tag{2.5}$$

we get

$$\delta_{\xi} I_{\text{eff}} = -\int_{M} dx^{d} \sqrt{g} \xi_{j} \nabla_{i} T^{ij}_{\text{bulk}} + \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \left(T^{ij}_{\text{bulk}} n_{i} \xi_{j} - \hat{\xi}_{j} \hat{\nabla}_{i} T^{ij}_{\text{bdy}} + T^{il}_{\text{bdy}} k_{il} n^{j} \xi_{j} - \xi_{j} D^{j} \right) = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

where $\hat{\nabla}_i$ is the induced covariant derivative on the boundary and $\hat{\xi}_i = \xi_l h_i^l$ is the pull back of the bulk vector ξ_i into the boundary. We have used $T_{\text{bdy}}^{ij} n_j = 0$ in the above derivations. For infinite-small bulk ξ , we derive from (2.6)

$$\nabla_i T_{\text{bulk}}^{ij} = 0. \tag{2.7}$$

As for infinite-small boundary ξ , we get

$$\hat{\nabla}_i T^{ij}_{\text{bdy}} = T^{il}_{\text{bulk}} n_i h^j_l, \qquad (2.8)$$

$$n_j D^j = T^{ij}_{\text{bulk}} n_i n_j + T^{ij}_{\text{bdy}} k_{ij}, \qquad (2.9)$$

which agrees with [20]. Note that there could be corrections to (2.8), (2.9) if we turn on the variation of $q_{ij}^{(n)}$ [5]. Below we focus on the flat space with a plate boundary. i.e., $k_{ij} = q_{ij}^{(n)} = 0$. Then the displacement operator $D = D_x = -n_j D^j$ becomes

$$D(y) = -T_{\text{bulk}}^{ij} n_i n_j = -T_{xx}(0, y), \qquad (2.10)$$

where $T^{ij} = T^{ij}_{\text{bulk}} + \delta(x)T^{ij}_{\text{bdy}}$ is the total stress tensor. From (2.10), it is clear that the displacement operator of BCFT is given by the normal component of the stress tensor in the flat space with a plate boundary [5, 20, 22]. As a result, we have

$$< D(y) > = - < T_{xx}(0, y) > = 0,$$

 $< D(y_1)D(y) > = < T_{xx}(0, y_1)T_{xx}(0, y) > = \frac{\alpha(1)}{|y_1 - y|^{2d}},$ (2.11)

where $\alpha(1) = C_D$ is defined by (2.34) of [5].

Now let us go on to discuss the two point functions. To reveal the relation between Casimir effect and displacement operator, we need the correlator of displacement operator with the stress tensor. According to [22], we have

$$< T^{ab}(x_1)D(y) > = b\left(\frac{4x_1^2y^ay^b}{(x_1^2 + y^2)^{d+2}} - \frac{\delta^{ab}}{d(x_1^2 + y^2)^d}\right),$$
(2.12)

$$< T^{ax}(x_1)D(y) > = 2b\left(\frac{y^a x_1}{(x_1^2 + y^2)^{d+1}} - \frac{2y^a x_1^3}{(x_1^2 + y^2)^{d+2}}\right),$$
 (2.13)

$$< T^{xx}(x_1)D(y) > = \frac{b}{(x_1^2 + y^2)^d} \left(\frac{(x_1^2 - y^2)^2}{(x_1^2 + y^2)^2} - \frac{1}{d}\right),$$
 (2.14)

where $D(y) = D(x = 0, y^a)$ and $T^{ij}(x_1) = T^{ij}(x_1, y_1^a = 0)$. Taking the limit $x_1 \to 0$ for (2.14) and comparing with (2.11), we get

$$b = -\frac{d}{(d-1)}\alpha(1) = -\frac{d}{(d-1)}C_D.$$
(2.15)

3 Casimir effect from Weyl anomaly

In [8], it is found that there are universal relations between Casimir effect and Weyl anomaly for BCFTs in three and four dimensions. In this section, we generalized the results of [8] to higher dimensions.

The key observation of [8] is that, the Weyl anomaly \mathcal{A} can be obtained either as the trace of renormalized stress tensor or the logarithmic UV divergent term of the effective action. Thus if we vary the metric and focus on the boundary term, we obtain

$$(\delta \mathcal{A})_{\partial M} = \delta I_{\text{eff}} \big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} \sqrt{g} T^{ij} \delta g_{ij} \big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where ϵ is an UV cutoff. To proceed, let us focus on the metric in the Gauss normal coordinates (1.5). For simplicity, we only turn on the variation with respect to $q_{ab}^{(d-2)}$, i.e., $\delta g_{ab} = x^{d-2} \delta q_{ab}^{(d-2)}, \delta g_{xx} = \delta g_{xb} = 0.$

Let us firstly discuss the case $d \ge 4$, where $q_{ab}^{(d-2)}$ and k_{ab} are independent. From (1.4), we derive the left hand side of (3.1) as

$$(\delta \mathcal{A})_{\partial M} = \beta \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \bar{k}^{ab} \delta q_{ab}^{(d-2)}.$$
(3.2)

From (1.1) together with $\delta g_{ab} = x^{d-2} \delta q_{ab}^{(d-2)}$, we obtain the right hand side of (3.1) as

$$\delta I_{\text{eff}} \Big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{M} dx dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \frac{\bar{k}^{ab}}{x} \delta q_{ab}^{(d-2)} \Big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon}$$
$$= \frac{\alpha}{2} \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \bar{k}^{ab} \delta q_{ab}^{(d-2)}. \tag{3.3}$$

Identifying (3.2) with (3.3), we obtain the universal relation (1.8) for $d \ge 4$.

Now let us go on to discuss the case d = 3, where $q_{ab}^{(d-2)} = q_{ab}^{(1)} = -2k_{ab}$ and k_{ab} are not independent. From (1.3), we get the left hand side of (3.1) as

$$(\delta \mathcal{A})_{\partial M} = -2\beta \int_{\partial M} dy^2 \sqrt{h} \bar{k}^{ab} \delta k_{ab}.$$
(3.4)

Note that $\int_{\partial_M} dx^2 \sqrt{h} \mathcal{R}$ in (1.3) is the Euler density, whose variation vanishes. From (1.1) together with $\delta g_{ab} = -2x \delta k_{ab}$, we derive the right hand side of (3.1) as

$$\delta I_{\text{eff}} \Big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon} = -\alpha \int_{M} dx dy^2 \sqrt{h} \frac{k^{ab}}{x} \delta k_{ab} \Big|_{\ln 1/\epsilon}$$
$$= -\alpha \int_{\partial M} dy^2 \sqrt{h} \bar{k}^{ab} \delta k_{ab}. \tag{3.5}$$

Identifying (3.4) with (3.5), we obtain (1.8) for d = 3. Now we finish the derivations of the universal relation (1.8) between Casimir effect and Weyl anomaly in general dimensions.

Now we show that the universal relation (1.8) agree with the results of [8] in three and four dimensions. In the notations of [8], the universal laws between Casimir effect and Weyl anomaly are given by $\alpha_1 = -b_2$ for 3d BCFTs and $\alpha_1 = b_4/2$ for 4d BCFTs. Transforming into our notations, i.e., $\alpha_1 = \alpha/2, b_2 = -\beta, b_4 = 2\beta$, the universal laws of [8] become $\alpha = 2\beta$ for both 3d and 4d BCFTs, which is exactly the universal relation (1.8) in our notations. Note that, to transform the notation $b_4 = 2\beta$, we have used $\bar{k}^{ij}C_{ikjl}h^{kl} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{k}^{ij}q_{ij}^{(2)}$ + terms without $\bar{q}_{ij}^{(2)}$ [14].

4 Casimir effect from displacement operator

In this section, we derive the shape dependence of Casimir effect from the displacement operator. Note that the technology used in this section was used in [26] to determine the relation between C_D and the one-point function of the stress tensor in the presence of a defect of codimension two.

By definition, we have for displacement operator [26]

$$< D \dots >= n_i \frac{\delta}{\delta x^i} < \dots >,$$
 (4.1)

where ... denote arbitrary insertions of operators. From (4.1), one can derive the one point function of an operator near the deformed boundary from the two point function of this operator with displacement operator on the non-deformed boundary. Take stress tensor as an example, we have

$$< T_{ij}(x_1) >_{f\partial M} = < T_{ij}(x_1) >_{\partial M} - \int dy^{d-1} < T_{ij}(x_1)D(y) >_{\partial M} f(y) + O(f^2),$$
 (4.2)

where we have $\delta x^i = \delta^i_x f(y)$ and recall that we have set $y_1^a = 0$ for T_{ij} and x = 0 for D for simplicity. For a general deformation the above integral cannot be performed. Instead, only the singular parts near the boundary $x_1 \to 0$ can be calculated explicitly. In the weak sense, i.e., after integration against a test function, the correlator (2.12) can be rewritten as distributions with support on the boundary. In the appendix, we prove

$$< T_{ab}(x_1)D(y) > = \frac{b\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma[d+2]} \left(\frac{\partial_a \partial_b \delta^{d-1}(y) - \delta_{ab} \frac{1}{d-1} \partial^2 \delta^{d-1}(y)}{(x_1)^{d-1}} + \dots\right), \qquad (4.3)$$

$$< T_{ax}(x_1)D(y) > = -\frac{b\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(d-1)\Gamma[d+2]} \left(\frac{\partial_a \partial^2 \delta^{d-1}(y)}{x_1^{d-2}} + \dots\right),\tag{4.4}$$

$$< T_{xx}(x_1)D(y) > = (0 + ...),$$
(4.5)

where ... denote higher order terms and the terms without derivatives of delta function (we focus on the case $\delta^{d-1}(y)f(y) = 0$ below). Substituting (4.3), (4.4), (4.5) into (4.2)

and using $\partial_a \partial_b f(y) = -k_{ab}(y)$ together with $\langle T_{ij} \rangle_{\partial M} = 0$, we obtain

$$< T_{ab}(x) >_{f\partial M} = \frac{b\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma[d+2]} \frac{\bar{k}_{ab}}{x^{d-1}} + O(k^2),$$
(4.6)

$$< T_{ax}(x) >_{f\partial M} = \frac{b\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(d-1)\Gamma[d+2]} \frac{\partial_a \bar{k}}{x^{d-2}} + O(k^2),$$
(4.7)

$$\langle T_{xx}(x) \rangle_{f\partial M} = O(k^2),$$

$$(4.8)$$

where we have replaced x_1 by x for simplicity. These are some of the main results of this paper. Comparing (4.6) with (1.1) and recalling that $b = -\frac{d}{(d-1)}C_D$ (2.15), we derive the universal relation (1.9) between Casimir effect and displacement operator. Note that we only list T_{ij} up to order $O(1/x^{d-1})$ in (1.1). To the next order in flat space, we have [6, 8]

$$T_{ax} = \frac{\alpha}{d-1} \frac{\partial_a k}{x^{d-2}} + O\left(\frac{1}{x^{d-3}}\right), \qquad (4.9)$$

$$T_{xx} = \frac{\alpha}{d-2} \frac{\text{Tr}\bar{k}^2}{x_1^{d-2}} + O\left(\frac{1}{x^{d-3}}\right), \qquad (4.10)$$

which agree with (4.7), (4.8) and (1.9). This can be regarded as a double-check of our calculations. It should be mentioned that, for 3d and 4d BCFTs, [11, 12] find interesting relation between Weyl anomaly and displacement operator, while [8] obtain universal relation between Weyl anomaly and Casimir effect. Combining their results, we can verify our main result (1.9) between displacement operator and Casimir effect for d = 3, 4. Let us show more details below. Since we have already shown that results of [8] agree with ours at the end of section 3, now we focus on the results of [11, 12]. In the notations of [11, 12], the universal laws between Weyl anomaly and displacement operator are expressed as

$$b = \frac{\pi^2}{8} c_{nn}, \quad \text{for} \quad d = 3,$$
 (4.11)

$$b_2 = \frac{2\pi^4}{15}c_{nn}, \quad \text{for} \quad d = 4,$$
 (4.12)

where b, b_2 are boundary central charges and c_{nn} denotes the norm of displacement operator. Transforming into our notations, i.e., $b = -4\pi\beta, b_2 = -32\pi^2\beta, c_{nn} = C_D$, (4.11), (4.12) become

$$\beta = -\frac{\pi}{32}C_D, \qquad \text{for} \quad d = 3, \tag{4.13}$$

$$\beta = -\frac{\pi^2}{240}C_D, \quad \text{for} \quad d = 4.$$
 (4.14)

Note that, to transform the notation $b_2 = -32\pi^2\beta$, we have used $\bar{k}^{ij}C_{ikjl}h^{kl} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{k}^{ij}q_{ij}^{(2)} +$ terms without $\bar{q}_{ij}^{(2)}$ [14]. From our key results (1.8), (1.9), we get

$$\beta = -\frac{d\Gamma[\frac{d+1}{2}]\pi^{2\frac{d-1}{2}}}{(d-1)\Gamma[d+2]}C_D,$$
(4.15)

which reduces to (4.13) and (4.14) for 3d BCFT and 4d BCFT, respectively. Now we have shown that our results indeed agree with those of [11, 12] in three and four dimensions. This is a test of our universal results in general dimensions.

5 Tests of universal relations

5.1 Story of free BCFT

Now let us verify our results by studying free BCFT. For simplicity, we focus on conformally coupled free scalar with the following action

$$I = \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} dx^{d} \sqrt{g} (\nabla_{i} \phi \nabla^{i} \phi + \xi R \phi^{2}) + \int_{\partial M} dy^{d-1} \sqrt{h} \xi k \phi^{2}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where $\xi = \frac{d-2}{4(d-1)}$ and k is the extrinsic curvature. There are two kinds of conformally invariant BCs for free scalar

Dirichlet BC :
$$\phi|_{\partial M} = 0,$$

Robin BC : $(\nabla_n + 2\xi k)\phi|_{\partial M} = 0.$
(5.2)

We use the heat kernel [30] to derive the renormalized stress tensor. The heat kernel of scalar satisfies the EOM

$$\partial_t K(t, x_i, x_i') - (\Box - \xi R) K(t, x_i, x_i') = 0$$
(5.3)

together with the BC (5.2) at x = 0 and BC

$$\lim_{t \to 0} K(t, x_i, x'_i) = \delta^d(x_i - x'_i)$$
(5.4)

at t = 0. Using the heat kernel, we can obtain the Green function

$$G(x_i, x'_i) = \int_0^\infty dt K(t, x_i, x'_i),$$
(5.5)

and then derive the expectation value of the stress tensor by

$$\hat{T}_{ij} = \lim_{x'_i \to x_i} \left[(1 - 2\xi) \nabla_i \nabla_{j'} - 2\xi \nabla_i \nabla_j + \left(2\xi - \frac{1}{2} \right) g_{ij} \nabla_l \nabla^{l'} + \xi \left(R_{ij} + \frac{4\xi - 1}{2} Rg_{ij} \right) \right] G(x_i, x'_i).$$

$$(5.6)$$

In general \hat{T}_{ij} is divergent, which can be renormalized by subtracting the value it would have in the space without boundary,

$$T_{ij} = \hat{T}_{ij} - \hat{T}_{0ij}.$$
 (5.7)

To proceed, we choose the following background metric

$$ds^{2} = dx^{2} + (1 - 2kx)dy_{1}^{2} + dy_{2}^{2} + \dots + dy_{d-1}^{2}$$
(5.8)

with k a constant. Then we solve the heat kernel (5.3), (5.2), (5.4) perturbatively in powers of k. At the linear order, we get

$$K(t,x,x') = \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \left(\exp\left[-\frac{\rho}{4t}\right] + \exp\left[-\frac{\rho_I}{4t}\right] \Omega_I(t) \right) + O(k^2), \tag{5.9}$$

where ρ and ρ_I are the geodesic distances in real space and image space, respectively,

$$\rho = (x - x')^2 + (y_a - y'_a)^2 - k(x' + x) (y_1 - y'_1)^2,$$
(5.10)

$$\rho_I = (x+x')^2 + (y_a - y'_a)^2 - k \frac{(x^2 + x'^2)(y_1 - y'_1)^2}{x' + x}.$$
(5.11)

For Dirichlet BC, $\Omega_I(t)$ is given by

$$\Omega_{I} = -1$$

$$+ k \frac{xx'}{4t} \left(\left(y_{1} - y_{1}' \right)^{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{\frac{(x'+x)^{2}}{4t}} \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x'+x}{2\sqrt{t}}\right)}{\sqrt{t}} - \frac{2}{x'+x} \right) - 2\sqrt{\pi}\sqrt{t}e^{\frac{(x'+x)^{2}}{4t}} \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x'+x}{2\sqrt{t}}\right) \right).$$
(5.12)

As for Robin BC, $\Omega_I(t)$ reads

$$\Omega_{I} = 1 + k \left[\left(y_{1} - y_{1}' \right)^{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{\frac{(x'+x)^{2}}{4t}} \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x'+x}{2\sqrt{t}}\right)}{\sqrt{t}} - \frac{2}{x'+x} \right) - 2\sqrt{\pi}\sqrt{t}e^{\frac{(x'+x)^{2}}{4t}} \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x'+x}{2\sqrt{t}}\right) \\ \left(y_{1} - y_{1}' \right)^{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}e^{\frac{(x+x')^{2}}{4t}} \left(2t + x^{2} + x'^{2}\right) \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{x+x'}{2\sqrt{t}}\right)}{8t^{3/2}} + \frac{xx'}{2t(x+x')} - \frac{x+x'}{4t} \right) \right]. \quad (5.13)$$

Note that the above heat kernel (5.9) agrees with the general results of [29]. We remark that the first term of (5.9) is the heat kernel in free space without boundary, while the second term of (5.9) is due to the boundary effect. To calculate the renormalized stress tensor (5.7), we subtract the first term and only keep the second term of (5.9).

Substituting the heat kernel (5.9), (5.11), (5.12), (5.13) into (5.5), (5.6), (5.7), after some complicated calculations, we obtain the renormalized stress tensor

$$T_{ij} = \frac{2^{-d} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{1 - d^2} \frac{\bar{k}_{ij}}{x^{d-1}} + O(k^2)$$
(5.14)

which gives

$$\alpha = \frac{2^{-d} \pi^{-\frac{d}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}{1 - d^2} \tag{5.15}$$

for free scalar. It is remarkable that Dirichlet BC and Robin BC yield the same α . Actually, this is a special character of free BCFT. In general α depends on BCs [8, 32].

 C_D of free scalar is calculated in [5], which is given by

$$C_D = \alpha(1) = \frac{\Gamma[\frac{d}{2}]^2}{2\pi^d}.$$
(5.16)

One can check that (5.15) and (5.16) indeed satisfy the universal relation (1.9) between Casimir effect and displacement operator. The universal relation (1.8) between Casimir effect and Weyl anomaly has been verified for 3d and 4d free BCFT in [8]. Since Weyl anomaly of free BCFT in higher dimensions is unknown in the literature, so far we cannot verify the universal relation (1.8) generally. In the next subsection, we shall test (1.8) by studying holographic BCFTs.



Figure 1. Geometry of holographic BCFT.

5.2 Holographic BCFT

The bottom-up model of holographic BCFT is firstly studied by Takayanagi [33]. Neumann boundary condition (NBC) plays an important role in this model and produces many interesting results [34, 35]. In this section, we use the holographic model of BCFT [33] to test the universal relations (1.8), (1.9).

Let us start with the geometry setup of holographic BCFT. The d dimensional manifold M is extended to a d + 1 dimensional asymptotically AdS space N so that $\partial N = M \cup Q$, where Q is a d dimensional manifold which satisfies $\partial Q = \partial M = P$. See figure 1 for example. A central issue in the construction of the AdS/BCFT is the determination of the location of Q in the bulk. It turns out that the location of Q can be fixed by boundary conditions (BC).

The action for holographic BCFT is given by $(16\pi G_N = 1, L = 1)$

$$I = \int_{N} \sqrt{G} \left(R - 2\Lambda \right) + 2 \int_{Q} \sqrt{\gamma} (K - T), \qquad (5.17)$$

where $\Lambda = -\frac{d(d-1)}{2L^2}$ is the cosmological constant, L is the AdS radius, K is the extrinsic curvature on Q and $T = (d-2) \tanh \rho$ is a constant parameter which can be regarded as the holographic dual of boundary conditions of BCFT. For simplicity, we set AdS radius L = 1 in this paper. Following [33], we impose NBC on the bulk boundary Q

$$K_{ij} - (K - T)\gamma_{ij} = 0. (5.18)$$

One can easily check that Poincare AdS

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + dx^{2} + \delta_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b}}{z^{2}},$$
(5.19)

is a solution to the NBC (5.18), provided that the embedding function of Q is given by

$$x = -\sinh\rho \ z. \tag{5.20}$$

Recall that we have $T = (d-2) \tanh \rho$.

The holographic one-point function of stress tensor is derived in [32], which takes the form of (1.1) with α given by

$$\alpha = \frac{2d\cosh^d \rho}{(-\coth\rho)^d \,_2F_1\left(\frac{d-1}{2}, \frac{d}{2}; \frac{d+2}{2}; -\operatorname{csch}^2\rho\right) + d\cosh^2\rho\coth\rho}.$$
(5.21)

It should be mentioned that suitable analytic continuation of the hypergeometric function should be taken in order to get smooth function at $\rho = 0$. For example, we have for d = 4,

$$\alpha_4 = \frac{-1}{(1 + \tanh\rho)}.\tag{5.22}$$

In the following subsections, we will derive holographic Weyl anomaly and holographic displacement operator to verify the universal relations (1.8), (1.9).

5.2.1 Holographic Weyl anomaly

We follow the approach of [32, 36] to derive the holographic Weyl anomaly [37] for BCFTs. For our purpose, we only need to work out the linear terms of O(k) and $O(q^{(d-2)})$ in the perturbation solutions. For simplicity, we take the following ansatz of metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{z^{2}} \left[dz^{2} + \left(1 + x^{d-1} \bar{k}^{ab} \bar{q}_{ab}^{(d-2)} X\left(\frac{z}{x}\right) + \ldots \right) dx^{2} + \left(\delta_{ab} - 2x \bar{k}_{ab} f_{1}\left(\frac{z}{x}\right) + x^{d-2} \bar{q}_{ab}^{(d-2)} f_{2}\left(\frac{z}{x}\right) + x^{d-1} \left[\bar{k}_{c(a} \bar{q}^{(d-2)}{}^{c}_{b)} f_{3}\left(\frac{z}{x}\right) + \delta_{ab} \bar{k}^{ce} \bar{q}_{ce}^{(d-2)} f_{4}\left(\frac{z}{x}\right) \right] + \ldots \right) dy^{a} dy^{b} \right]$$
(5.23)

where \bar{A}_{ab} denote the traceless part of A_{ab} and we set

$$f_1(0) = f_2(0) = 1, \quad X(0) = f_3(0) = f_4(0) = 0$$
 (5.24)

so that the metric of BCFT takes the form in Gauss normal coordinates

$$ds_M^2 = dx^2 + \left(\delta_{ab} - 2x\bar{k}_{ab} + x^{d-2}\bar{q}_{ab}^{(d-2)} + x^{d-1}0 + \dots\right)dy^a dy^b.$$
 (5.25)

For simplicity, we focus on the solutions without y_a dependence. We further set $k_{ab} = \text{diag}(k_1, -k_1, 0, \ldots, 0), q_{ab}^{(d-2)} = \text{diag}(q_1, -q_1, 0, \ldots, 0)$, where k_1, q_1 are constants. Then the embedding function of Q takes the form

$$x = -\sinh\rho \ z + \lambda_d \bar{k}^{ab} \bar{q}^{(d-2)}_{ab} z^d + \dots$$
(5.26)

where λ_d is a constant to be determined.

Substituting (5.23) into the Einstein equations, we get one independent equation at order O(k)

$$s(s^{2}+1)f_{1}''(s) - (d-1)f_{1}'(s) = 0$$
(5.27)

and another independent equation at order $O(q^{(d-2)})$

$$s(s^{2}+1)f_{2}''(s) - \left((d-1) + 2(d-3)s^{2}\right)f_{2}'(s) + (d-2)(d-3)sf_{2}(s) = 0.$$
(5.28)

Solving the above equations, we obtain

$$f_1(s) = 1 + c_1 \frac{s^d \,_2 F_1\left(\frac{d-1}{2}, \frac{d}{2}; \frac{d+2}{2}; -s^2\right)}{d},\tag{5.29}$$

$$f_2(s) = \left(s^2 + 1\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} + c_2 \frac{s^d \left(d - (d-1)_2 F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, 1; \frac{d+2}{2}; -s^2\right)\right)}{d \left(s^2 + 1\right)}.$$
(5.30)

Imposing the NBC (5.18) on Q (5.26), we can determine the integral constants

$$c_{1} = \frac{-d\cosh^{d}\rho}{(-\coth\rho)^{d} _{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{d-1}{2}, \frac{d}{2}; \frac{d+2}{2}; -\operatorname{csch}^{2}\rho\right) + d\cosh^{2}\rho\coth\rho},$$
(5.31)

and

$$c_{2} = \frac{d\sinh^{4}(\rho)\tanh(\rho)(-\coth(\rho))^{d}/(d-1)}{(2-d+2\cosh(2\rho))_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2},1;\frac{d+2}{2};-\operatorname{csch}^{2}\rho\right) - \frac{2\coth^{2}(\rho)_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{3}{2},2;\frac{d+4}{2};-\operatorname{csch}^{2}\rho\right)}{d+2} + \frac{d(d-2-2\cosh(2\rho))}{d-1}} \quad (5.32)$$

Similarly, one can work out solutions of order $O(kq^{(d-2)})$. Since the solutions are quite complicated, below we focus on the case d = 4. The generalization to higher dimensions is straightforward. It is interesting that, the integral constant c_1 is the same as c_2 for d = 4

$$c_1 = c_2 = \frac{1}{2 + 2\tanh(\rho)}.$$
(5.33)

Solving Einstein equations of order $O(kq^{(2)})$, we get

$$X(s) = \frac{1}{3} \left((3c_1(2c_1-5)+10)s^2 + 2(1-2c_1)^2 \right) + (1-2c_1)c_1(s^2+1)\log(s^2+1) + \frac{2}{3}\sqrt{s^2+1} \left(2c_1^2(s^2-2) + 4c_1(s^2+1) - s^2 - 1 \right),$$
(5.34)

$$f_{3}(s) = 2 + 3s^{2} - 2\sqrt{s^{2} + 1} + c_{3}\left(\left(\sqrt{s^{2} + 1} - \frac{3}{2}\right)s^{2} + \sqrt{s^{2} + 1} - 1\right) + c_{1}\left(-4s^{2} + 8\sqrt{s^{2} + 1} - 8\right) + c_{1}^{2}\left(5s^{2} - 12\sqrt{s^{2} + 1} - \frac{2}{\sqrt{s^{2} + 1}} + 14\right), \quad (5.35)$$

$$f_4(s) = \frac{1}{9} \left(\left(\sqrt{s^2 + 1} - 9 \right) s^2 + \sqrt{s^2 + 1} - 1 \right) + \frac{1}{18} c_3 \left(\left(9 - 6\sqrt{s^2 + 1} \right) s^2 - 6\sqrt{s^2 + 1} + 6 \right) \\ + \frac{1}{18} c_1 \left(\left(9 - 8\sqrt{s^2 + 1} \right) s^2 - 8\sqrt{s^2 + 1} + 3\log\left(s^2 + 1\right) + 8 \right) \\ + \frac{1}{9} c_1^2 \left(4\sqrt{s^2 + 1} s^2 - 14\sqrt{s^2 + 1} + 3\log\left(s^2 + 1\right) + 14 \right),$$
(5.36)

where we have used $c_2 = c_1$ for d = 4. Imposing now BCs on Q (5.26), we can fix the integral constants for NBC (5.18)

$$c_{3} = \frac{1}{4}e^{-2\rho}(8\sinh(2\rho) + 7\cosh(2\rho) - 1), \qquad (5.37)$$

$$\lambda_{4} = -\frac{-208\sinh(2\rho) - 144\cosh(2\rho) + 32\cosh(4\rho) + 16\cosh(6\rho) + 96}{1536(\sinh(\rho) + \cosh(\rho))^{2}}.$$

$$-\frac{20\sinh(4\rho) + 16\sinh(6\rho) - 9\sinh(2\rho)\log\left(\coth^{2}(\rho)\right) + 3\sinh(6\rho)\log\left(\coth^{2}(\rho)\right)}{1536(\sinh(\rho) + \cosh(\rho))^{2}}, \qquad (5.38)$$

where λ_4 characterizes the location of Q (5.26).

Now we are ready to derive the holographic Weyl anomaly for 4d BCFT. On-shell, the gravitational action (5.17) becomes

$$I = -8 \int_N \sqrt{G} + 2 \int_Q \sqrt{\gamma} (K - 3 \tanh \rho).$$
(5.39)

To get the holographic Weyl anomaly, we need to do the integration along x and z, and then select the UV logarithmic divergent terms. We divide the integration region into two parts: region I is defined by $(z \ge 0, x \ge 0)$ and region II is the complement of region I. Let us first do the integral in region I, where only the bulk action in (5.39) contributes. Integrating along z and selecting the 1/x term, we obtain

$$I_{1} = -\int_{\epsilon} dx \left[\frac{2 + \tanh \rho}{4x \left(1 + \tanh \rho \right)^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\bar{k}q^{(2)} \right) + \ldots \right]$$
$$= -\log \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} \right) \frac{2 + \tanh \rho}{4 \left(1 + \tanh \rho \right)^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\bar{k}q^{(2)} \right) + \cdots .$$
(5.40)

Next let us consider the integration in region II. In this case, both the bulk action and boundary action in (5.39) contribute. For the bulk action, we first do the integral along x, which yields a boundary term on Q. Note that since only the UV logarithmic divergent terms are related to Weyl anomaly, we keep only the lower limit of the integral of x. Adding the boundary term from bulk integral to the boundary action in (5.39), we obtain

$$I_{2} = \int_{\epsilon} dz \left[\frac{\sinh\left(2\rho\right)\left(\sinh\left(2\rho\right) - \cosh\left(2\rho\right)\right)}{8z} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\bar{k}q^{(2)}\right) + \dots \right]$$
$$= \log\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon}\right) \frac{\sinh\left(2\rho\right)\left(\sinh\left(2\rho\right) - \cosh\left(2\rho\right)\right)}{8} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\bar{k}q^{(2)}\right) + \dots .$$
(5.41)

Adding (5.40) to (5.41), we finally obtain the Weyl anomaly (1.4) for 4d BCFT with the boundary central charges given by

$$\beta_4 = \frac{-1}{2(1 + \tanh\rho)}.$$
(5.42)

Comparing the above central charges with (5.22), we find that the universal relation (1.8) is indeed satisfied for d = 4. It is straightforward to generalize the above results to higher dimensions. Following the above approach, we verify the universal relation (1.8) up to d = 6.

5.2.2 Holographic displacement operator

In this section, we study the holographic two point function of displacement operator, which is equivalent to the two point function of stress tensor. That is because the displacement operator is given by the normal component of the stress tensor for BCFTs. For simplicity, we focus on the case that the bulk boundary Q is perpendicular to AdS boundary M, i.e., $T = \rho = 0$. The case with $T \neq 0$ is a non-trivial problem and we leave it to future study.

We follow the work of [38] to derive the two-point function of stress tensor. Consider the metric fluctuations $H_{\mu\nu}$ in AdS spacetime

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + dx^{2} + \delta_{ab}dy^{a}dy^{b} + H_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}}{z^{2}}$$
(5.43)

and choose the gauge

$$H_{zz}(z=0,\mathbf{x}) = H_{zi}(z=0,\mathbf{x}) = 0$$
(5.44)

at the AdS boundary M. Here the Greek letter μ denote (z, x, y_a) and the Latin letter i denote (x, y_a) . Imposing BCs (5.18) on Q together with the following BC on M

$$H_{ij}(z=0,\mathbf{x}) = \hat{H}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}), \tag{5.45}$$

we solve the bulk solution

$$H_{\mu\nu}(z,\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\Gamma[d](d+1)}{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma[d/2](d-1)} \int d^d x' \left[\frac{z^d}{S^{2d}} J_{\mu i} J_{\nu j} P_{ijkl} \hat{H}_{kl}(\mathbf{x}') + \frac{z^d}{\bar{S}^{2d}} \bar{J}_{\mu i} \bar{J}_{\nu j} P_{ijkl} \hat{H}_{kl}(\mathbf{x}') \right]$$
(5.46)

where

$$S^{2} = z^{2} + (x - x')^{2} + (y_{a} - y'_{a})^{2},$$

$$\bar{S}^{2} = z^{2} + (x + x')^{2} + (y_{a} - y'_{a})^{2},$$

$$P_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} + \delta_{il} \delta_{jk} \right) - \frac{1}{d} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl},$$

$$J_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu} - 2 \frac{(x_{\mu} - x'_{\mu})(x_{\nu} - x'_{\nu})}{S^{2}},$$

$$\bar{J}_{\mu\nu} = J_{\mu\nu} - 2X_{\mu}X'_{\nu},$$
(5.47)

and

$$X_{\mu} = \frac{1}{S\bar{S}} \left(2xz, x^2 - x'^2 - (y_a - y'_a)^2 - z^2, 2x(y_a - y'_a) \right),$$
(5.48)

$$X'_{\mu} = \frac{1}{S\bar{S}} \left(-2x'z, x'^2 - x^2 - (y_a - y'_a)^2 - z^2, -2x'(y_a - y'_a) \right).$$
(5.49)

Notice that the first term of (5.46) is just the solution without boundary [38] and the second term comes from the boundary effects.

According to [38], the on-shell quadratic action for H_{ij} is given by

$$I_{2} = \int_{M} dx^{d} z^{1-d} \left(\frac{1}{4} H_{ij} \partial_{z} H_{ij} - \frac{1}{2} H_{ij} \partial_{j} H_{zi} \right).$$
(5.50)

Note that the terms on Q do not contribute to the quadratic action. That is because

$$(\delta I)_Q = \int_Q dx^d (K^{ij} - K\gamma^{ij}) \delta\gamma_{ij} = 0, \qquad (5.51)$$

which vanishes due to BCs (5.18). Substituting (5.46) into (5.50), we derive

$$I_{2} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Gamma[d+2]}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma[d/2](d-1)} \int dx^{d} dx'^{d} \hat{H}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) \left[\frac{\mathcal{I}_{ij,kl}}{s^{2d}} + \frac{\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{ij,kl}}{\bar{s}^{2d}} \right] \hat{H}_{kl}(\mathbf{x}'),$$
(5.52)

where

$$s^{2} = (x - x')^{2} + (y_{a} - y'_{a})^{2}, \qquad (5.53)$$

$$\bar{s}^2 = (x + x')^2 + (y_a - y'_a)^2, \qquad (5.54)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{ij,kl} = \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{1}{2} \left(J_{ik} J_{jl} + J_{il} J_{jk} \right) - \frac{1}{d} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl},$$
(5.55)

$$\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{ij,kl} = \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{J}_{ik} \bar{J}_{jl} + \bar{J}_{il} \bar{J}_{jk} \right) - \frac{1}{d} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl}.$$
(5.56)

From (5.52), we finally obtain the two point function of stress tensor for holographic BCFT

$$\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{x})T_{kl}(\mathbf{x}')\rangle = C_T \left[\frac{\mathcal{I}_{ij,kl}}{s^{2d}} + \frac{\bar{\mathcal{I}}_{ij,kl}}{\bar{s}^{2d}}\right],$$
(5.57)

where $C_T = \frac{2\Gamma[d+2]}{\pi^{d/2}\Gamma[d/2](d-1)}$. Note that the first term of (5.57) is just the two point function without boundary, and the second term of (5.57) is due to the boundary effect, which depends on boundary conditions. After some calculations, we rewrite (5.57) into the form used in [5],

$$< T_{ij}(\mathbf{x})T_{kl}(\mathbf{x}') > = \frac{1}{s^{2d}} \Big[\delta(v)\delta_{ij}\delta_{kl} + \epsilon(v)(I_{ik}I_{jl} + I_{il}I_{jk}) + (\beta(v) - \delta(v))(\hat{X}_i\hat{X}_j\delta_{kl} + \hat{X}'_k\hat{X}'_l\delta_{ij}) - (\gamma(v) + \epsilon(v))(\hat{X}_i\hat{X}'_kI_{jl} + \hat{X}_j\hat{X}'_lI_{ik} + \hat{X}_i\hat{X}'_lI_{jk} + \hat{X}_j\hat{X}'_kI_{il}) + (\alpha(v) - 2\beta(v) + 4\gamma(v) + \delta(v) + 2\epsilon(v))\hat{X}_i\hat{X}_j\hat{X}'_k\hat{X}'_l \Big],$$
(5.58)

where

$$v = \frac{s}{\bar{s}} = \sqrt{\frac{(x - x')^2 + (y_a - y'_a)^2}{(x + x')^2 + (y_a - y'_a)^2}},$$

$$I_{ij} = \lim_{z \to 0} J_{ij} = \delta_{ij} - 2\frac{(x_i - x'_i)(x_j - x'_j)}{s^2},$$

$$\hat{X}_i = \lim_{z \to 0} X_i = \frac{1}{s\bar{s}} \left(x^2 - x'^2 - (y_a - y'_a)^2, 2x(y_a - y'_a)\right),$$

$$\hat{X}'_i = \lim_{z \to 0} X'_i = \frac{1}{s\bar{s}} \left(x'^2 - x^2 - (y_a - y'_a)^2, -2x'(y_a - y'_a)\right),$$
(5.59)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(v) &= C_T \frac{(d-1)\left(1+v^{2d}\right)}{d}, \\ \beta(v) &= \delta(v) = -C_T \frac{1+v^{2d}}{d}, \\ \gamma(v) &= C_T \frac{v^{2d}-1}{2}, \\ \epsilon(v) &= C_T \frac{1+v^{2d}}{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.60)

Note that v (5.59) characterizes the distance to the boundary. In the limit far aways from the boundary we have v = 0, while in the limit near the boundary we have v = 1. It is remarkable that, the above functions take exactly the same form as those for free fermions and free scalars (half NBC and half DBC) [5]. According to [31], this is the expected result and can be regarded as a check of our calculations. Reflection positivity in Euclidean signature impose bounds on the functions (5.60). According to [12], we have

$$\alpha(v) \ge 0, \ -\gamma(v) \ge 0, \ \epsilon(v) \ge 0.$$
 (5.61)

It is remarkable that our holographic results (5.60) indeed satisfy the above positivity constraints. This is another support of our results.

Now let us focus on the normal components of (5.57), from which we derive the Zamolodchikov norm of displacement operator

$$C_D = \alpha(1) = \frac{4\Gamma[d+2]}{\pi^{d/2}d\Gamma[d/2]},$$
(5.62)

for $T = \rho = 0$. Under the same conditions, the holographic Casimir coefficients (5.21) reduce to

$$\alpha = -\frac{d\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+2}{2}\right)}.$$
(5.63)

Comparing (5.62) with (5.63), we verify the universal relation (1.9) between displacement operator and Casimir effect. It is interesting to generalize the above discussions to $T \neq 0$. However, this is a non-trivial problem due to complicated BCs and we leave it to future work.

6 Conclusions and discussions

In this paper, we have obtained universal relations between Casimir effect, Weyl anomaly and displacement operator for BCFTs in general dimensions. We verify our results by free scalars and holographic BCFTs. It is interesting to generalize our work to defect CFTs [22]. Notice that BCFT can be regarded as a defect CFT with co-dimension one. And the case of co-dimension two is closely related to Rényi entanglement entropy and is studied by [23–28]. It is also interesting to derive the holographic two point functions of stress tensor and current for general boundary conditions. We hope we could address these problems in future.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank M. Billò, V. Goncalves, E. Lauria, M. Meineri, M. Fujita, Y. Sato and Xinan Zhou for correspondence and useful comments. This work is supported by the funding of Sun Yat-Sen University.

A Useful formulas

In this appendix, we apply the method of [26] to re-express a function as distributions. Let us start with the function

$$K(x,y) = \frac{y^{2\alpha}}{(x^2 + y^2)^{d+\beta}}$$
(A.1)

and a test function f(y) which is regular at y = 0 and decays fast enough when $y \to \infty$. Define the integral

$$I(x) = \int dy^{d-1} K(x, y) f(y).$$
 (A.2)

Since we are interested in the singular parts, we focus on the domain $|y| \leq 1$. (A.2) becomes

$$I(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \partial_{i_1} \dots \partial_{i_n} f(0) \int_{|y| \le 1} dy^{d-1} y^{i_1} \dots y^{i_n} K(x, y) + \text{regular terms.}$$
(A.3)

Performing the coordinate transformation $y^a = xz^a$, we get

$$\begin{split} I(x) &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \partial_{i_1} \dots \partial_{i_n} f(0) \frac{1}{x^{d-n+1+2\beta-2\alpha}} \int_{|z| \le 1/x} dz^{d-1} \frac{z^{i_1} \dots z^{i_n} z^{2\alpha}}{(1+z^2)^{d+\beta}} + \text{regular terms} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \partial_{i_1} \dots \partial_{i_n} f(0) \frac{\Omega_{d-2}}{x^{d-n+1+2\beta-2\alpha}} \frac{\delta^{i_1 i_2} \dots \delta^{i_{n-1} i_n} + \text{permutations}}{\text{normalization}} \\ &\times \int_{r \le 1/x} dr \frac{r^{d-2+n+2\alpha}}{(1+r^2)^{d+\beta}} + \text{regular terms} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \partial_{i_1} \dots \partial_{i_n} f(0) \frac{1}{x^{d-n+1+2\beta-2\alpha}} \frac{\delta^{i_1 i_2} \dots \delta^{i_{n-1} i_n} + \text{permutations}}{\text{normalization}} \\ &\times \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Gamma\left(\alpha + \frac{d+n-1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\beta - \alpha + \frac{d-n+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right) \Gamma(\beta+d)} + \text{regular terms} \end{split}$$
(A.4)

In the weak limit, we can replace f(0) by $\delta^{d-1}(y)$ and obtain

$$K(x,y) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})\Gamma(\beta+d)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n \frac{\Gamma\left(\alpha + \frac{d+n-1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\beta - \alpha + \frac{d-n+1}{2}\right)}{x^{d-n+1+2\beta-2\alpha}}$$
(A.5)

where

$$P_n = \frac{\partial_{i_1} \dots \partial_{i_n} \delta^{d-1}(y)}{n!} \frac{\delta^{i_1 i_2} \dots \delta^{i_{n-1} i_n} + \text{permutations}}{\text{normalization}}.$$
 (A.6)

From (A.5) and the derivatives of (A.5), we obtain the following useful formulas.

$$\frac{y^a y^b}{(x^2 + y^2)^{d+2}} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{4\Gamma\left(d+2\right)} \left[\delta^{ab} \left(\frac{(d+1)\,\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+3}} + \frac{\partial^2 \delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{2x^{d+1}}\right) + \frac{\partial^a \partial^b \delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+1}} \right]$$
(A.7)

$$\frac{1}{(x^2+y^2)^d} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(d\right)} \left[\frac{\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+1}} + \frac{\partial^2 \delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{2\left(d-1\right)x^{d-1}}\right] + \dots$$
(A.8)

$$\frac{y^a}{(x^2+y^2)^{d+1}} = -\frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(d+1\right)} \left[\frac{\partial^a \delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+1}} + \frac{\partial^a \partial^2 \delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{2\left(d-1\right)x^{d-1}}\right] + \dots$$
(A.9)

$$\frac{y^a}{(x^2+y^2)^{d+2}} = -\frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{4\Gamma\left(d+2\right)} \left[\frac{(d+1)\partial^a\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+3}} + \frac{\partial^a\partial^2\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{2x^{d+1}}\right] + \dots$$
(A.10)

$$\frac{y^2}{(x^2+y^2)^{d+2}} = \frac{\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2}\right)}{4\Gamma\left(d+1\right)} \left[\frac{(d-1)\,\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{x^{d+1}} + \frac{(d+3)\,\partial^2\delta^{d-1}\left(y\right)}{2(d-1)x^{d-1}}\right] + \dots \tag{A.11}$$

Using the above formulas, we can derive (4.3), (4.4), (4.5).

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] H.B.G. Casimir, On the Attraction Between Two Perfectly Conducting Plates, Indag. Math.
 10 (1948) 261 [Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 51 (1948) 793] [Front. Phys. 65 (1987) 342]
 [Kon. Ned. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. 100N3-4 (1997) 61] [INSPIRE].
- [2] G. Plunien, B. Müller and W. Greiner, *The Casimir Effect*, *Phys. Rept.* 134 (1986) 87 [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Bordag, U. Mohideen and V.M. Mostepanenko, New developments in the Casimir effect, Phys. Rept. 353 (2001) 1 [quant-ph/0106045] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J.L. Cardy, Boundary conformal field theory, hep-th/0411189 [INSPIRE].
- [5] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, Energy momentum tensor in conformal field theories near a boundary, Nucl. Phys. B 406 (1993) 655 [hep-th/9302068] [INSPIRE].
- [6] D. Deutsch and P. Candelas, Boundary Effects in Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 20 (1979) 3063 [INSPIRE].
- [7] G. Kennedy, R. Critchley and J.S. Dowker, Finite Temperature Field Theory with Boundaries: Stress Tensor and Surface Action Renormalization, Annals Phys. 125 (1980) 346 [INSPIRE].
- [8] R.-X. Miao and C.-S. Chu, Universality for Shape Dependence of Casimir Effects from Weyl Anomaly, JHEP 03 (2018) 046 [arXiv:1706.09652] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Fursaev, Conformal anomalies of CFT's with boundaries, JHEP 12 (2015) 112 [arXiv:1510.01427] [INSPIRE].
- [10] C.P. Herzog, K.-W. Huang and K. Jensen, Universal Entanglement and Boundary Geometry in Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 01 (2016) 162 [arXiv:1510.00021] [INSPIRE].
- C. Herzog, K.-W. Huang and K. Jensen, Displacement Operators and Constraints on Boundary Central Charges, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 021601 [arXiv:1709.07431]
 [INSPIRE].
- [12] C.P. Herzog and K.-W. Huang, Boundary Conformal Field Theory and a Boundary Central Charge, JHEP 10 (2017) 189 [arXiv:1707.06224] [INSPIRE].
- [13] R.-X. Miao, C.-S. Chu and W.-Z. Guo, New proposal for a holographic boundary conformal field theory, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 046005 [arXiv:1701.04275] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C.-S. Chu, R.-X. Miao and W.-Z. Guo, On New Proposal for Holographic BCFT, JHEP 04 (2017) 089 [arXiv:1701.07202] [INSPIRE].
- [15] K. Jensen, E. Shaverin and A. Yarom, 't Hooft anomalies and boundaries, JHEP 01 (2018) 085 [arXiv:1710.07299] [INSPIRE].
- M. Kurkov and D. Vassilevich, Parity anomaly in four dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 025011 [arXiv:1704.06736] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Kurkov and D. Vassilevich, Gravitational parity anomaly with and without boundaries, JHEP 03 (2018) 072 [arXiv:1801.02049] [INSPIRE].
- [18] D. Vassilevich, Index Theorems and Domain Walls, JHEP 07 (2018) 108
 [arXiv:1805.09974] [INSPIRE].
- [19] D. Rodriguez-Gomez and J.G. Russo, Free energy and boundary anomalies on S^a × H^b spaces, JHEP 10 (2017) 084 [arXiv:1708.00305] [INSPIRE].

- [20] K. Jensen and A. O'Bannon, Constraint on Defect and Boundary Renormalization Group Flows, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 091601 [arXiv:1509.02160] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.N. Solodukhin, Boundary terms of conformal anomaly, Phys. Lett. B 752 (2016) 131 [arXiv:1510.04566] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Billò, V. Gonçalves, E. Lauria and M. Meineri, *Defects in conformal field theory*, *JHEP* 04 (2016) 091 [arXiv:1601.02883] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Lewkowycz and E. Perlmutter, Universality in the geometric dependence of Rényi entropy, JHEP 01 (2015) 080 [arXiv:1407.8171] [INSPIRE].
- [24] L. Bianchi, M. Meineri, R.C. Myers and M. Smolkin, *Rényi entropy and conformal defects*, *JHEP* 07 (2016) 076 [arXiv:1511.06713] [INSPIRE].
- [25] X. Dong, Shape Dependence of Holographic Rényi Entropy in Conformal Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 251602 [arXiv:1602.08493] [INSPIRE].
- [26] L. Bianchi, S. Chapman, X. Dong, D.A. Galante, M. Meineri and R.C. Myers, Shape dependence of holographic Rényi entropy in general dimensions, JHEP 11 (2016) 180 [arXiv:1607.07418] [INSPIRE].
- [27] C.-S. Chu and R.-X. Miao, Universality in the shape dependence of holographic Rényi entropy for general higher derivative gravity, JHEP **12** (2016) 036 [arXiv:1608.00328] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Balakrishnan, S. Dutta and T. Faulkner, Gravitational dual of the Rényi twist displacement operator, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 046019 [arXiv:1607.06155] [INSPIRE].
- [29] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, A DeWitt expansion of the heat kernel for manifolds with a boundary, Class. Quant. Grav. 8 (1991) 603 [INSPIRE].
- [30] D.V. Vassilevich, Heat kernel expansion: User's manual, Phys. Rept. 388 (2003) 279
 [hep-th/0306138] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Alishahiha and R. Fareghbal, Boundary CFT from Holography, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 106002 [arXiv:1108.5607] [INSPIRE].
- [32] R.-X. Miao, Holographic BCFT with Dirichlet Boundary Condition, JHEP **02** (2019) 025 [arXiv:1806.10777] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Takayanagi, *Holographic Dual of BCFT*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **107** (2011) 101602 [arXiv:1105.5165] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Nozaki, T. Takayanagi and T. Ugajin, Central Charges for BCFTs and Holography, JHEP 06 (2012) 066 [arXiv:1205.1573] [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Fujita, T. Takayanagi and E. Tonni, Aspects of AdS/BCFT, JHEP 11 (2011) 043 [arXiv:1108.5152] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C.-S. Chu and R.-X. Miao, Anomalous Transport in Holographic Boundary Conformal Field Theories, JHEP 07 (2018) 005 [arXiv:1804.01648] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis, The Holographic Weyl anomaly, JHEP 07 (1998) 023 [hep-th/9806087] [INSPIRE].
- [38] H. Liu and A.A. Tseytlin, D = 4 superYang-Mills, D = 5 gauged supergravity and D = 4 conformal supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 533 (1998) 88 [hep-th/9804083] [INSPIRE].